North Yorkshire County Council

Scrutiny of Health Committee

Minutes of the meeting held at County Hall, Northallerton on 27 January 2017.

Present:-

Members:-

County Councillor Jim Clark (in the Chair)

County Councillors: Val Arnold, Bernard Bateman (as substitute for Shelagh Marshall OBE), David Billing, John Clark, Margaret-Ann de Courcey-Bayley, Caroline Dickinson, Heather Moorhouse, Patrick Mulligan (as substitute for John Ennis), Chris Pearson and Cliff Trotter.

Co-opted Members:-

District Council Representatives:- Kevin Hardisty (Hambleton), Judith Chilvers (Selby), Jane E Mortimer (Scarborough), Wendy Hull (Craven), Karin Sedgwick (Richmondshire) and Ian Galloway (Harrogate).

In attendance:-

Janet Probert, Chief Operating Officer and Lisa Pope, Deputy Chief Operating Officer, Hambleton Richmondshire and Whitby CCG

Adele Coulthard Director of Operations, North Yorkshire, Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust

Clare Beard, Public Health Consultant, Health and Adult Services, North Yorkshire County Council

County Councillor Clare Wood, Chair of the North Yorkshire Health and Wellbeing Board

County Council Officers:-

Daniel Harry, Scrutiny Team Leader

Amanda Reynolds, Assistant Director for Integration, Health and Adult Services

Apologies for absence were received from: County Councillors Philip Barrett, John Ennis, Shelagh Marshall OBE and David Simister and from District Councillor Bob Gardiner.

Copies of all documents considered are in the Minute Book

137. Minutes

Resolved

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2016 be taken as read and be confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

138. Any Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest to note.

139. Chairman's Announcements

The Chairman provided the Committee with an update relating to the following matters:-

Joint Scrutiny of Health – the Chairman provided an overview of discussions at two Joint Scrutiny of Health meetings that had been held recently, as below:

At the meeting of the Better Health Programme (Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby) Joint Scrutiny of Health Committee on 19 January 2017 there was an in-depth discussion about the challenges of recruiting and retaining a health work force that could meet the changing needs and disease profiles of patients. This was followed by the presentation of findings on the public consultations on potential changes to the way in which health services are delivered. Public concerns about travel distances and times in rural areas were acknowledged.

The next meeting of the group will be in early March, to be confirmed.

At the meeting of the Healthy Futures Programme (West Yorkshire) Joint Scrutiny of Health Committee on 23 January 2017 there was an in-depth discussion about the proposed reconfiguration of stroke services. In the course of these discussions, concerns were raised by Members about the apparent lack of meaningful engagement by the STP lead officers and also local authority adult social care officers.

The next meeting of the group will be in early March, to be confirmed.

The Chairman informed the committee that Joint Scrutiny of Health arrangements were not yet in place to cover the reconfiguration of health services in the Humber Coast and Vale STP area. He confirmed that this is being pursued and that it was anticipated that the lead Local Authority would be Hull City Council.

Mid Cycle Briefing Update – the Chairman noted that there were two items discussed at the meeting on 16 December 2016, STPs and Community Pharmacies, both of which are covered in the agenda for this meeting.

140. Public Questions or Statements

There were no statements or questions from members of the public.

141. The agenda order was changed so that the presentation on mental health service reconfiguration was taken as the first substantive item.

142. Transforming our Communities – Mental Health Services

Considered -

The report of Janet Probert, Chief Operating Officer, Hambleton Richmondshire and Whitby CCG and Adele Coulthard, Director of Operations, North Yorkshire at Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, providing the context and background to a proposed re-configuration of adult and older peoples' mental health services in Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby.

Janet Probert explained that the proposed reconfiguration of adult and older peoples' mental health services followed on from the work that had been done through the 'Fit 4 the Future' programme and the 'Transforming Communities' work on physical health. The aims are to: simplify access to services, in part by creating a single point of contact for referrals; review the existing care pathways, to help improve continuity of care; support people in their home for longer and to provide services as close as possible to their home; review opportunities for the utilisation of new technologies; and increase support for carers.

Janet Probert outlined some of the key messages that had come out of the previous consultation on the reconfiguration of services for physical health. This included feedback from those consulted that 'It's not about beds – I have one'. In other words, there has been a strong emphasis upon community care and supporting people in their own homes.

Adele Coulthard stated that access to specialist acute care when required was a priority and that this would be provided at a number of specialist sites. This then would mean that some people would have to travel some distance to receive the treatment that they need. The negative impact of prolonged hospital stays was highlighted and so the need to move people on as quickly as possible into the community, by using facilities such as step-up and step-down beds.

Adele Coulthard noted that a strengths-based model for recovery had been adopted, where the focus was upon getting people's mental health back to where it was before they were ill.

Janet Probert outlined the triple phased engagement process, as follows:

- Phase 1 listening phase February and March 2017
- Phase 2 reporting and options development March, April and May 2017
- Phase 3 formal 12 week consultation period mid-May to mid-August 2017.

Cllr Jim Clark raised concerns about the future of the mental health in-patient wards at the Friarage Hospital in Northallerton.

In response, Adele Coulthard stated that some of the properties that were managed by TEWV were no longer fit for the delivery of modern mental health services. This included the mental health in-patient wards at the Friarage Hospital in Northallerton. These properties would be reviewed as part of the re-configuration programme. In the short term, there was a drive to improve the overall quality of the estate. In the longer term and subject to the outcome of the consultation, there may be opportunities to develop a mental health service hub.

Cllr Heather Moorhouse questioned what the role of non-specialist services was in the provision of mental health interventions.

Jane Probert stated that GPs played a key role with about 40% of a GP's caseload relating to mental health problems.

Cllr Wendy Hull emphasised the need to more formally engage the voluntary and community sector in the commissioning of mental health services across the county.

Cllr Val Arnold questioned whether there were shortages in skilled mental health workers in North Yorkshire.

In response, Adele Coulthard stated that there were challenges, as there are elsewhere within the NHS, particularly in recruiting and retaining workers in the 20 to 40 years of age group.

In summing up, Cllr Jim Clark observed that mental health services in North Yorkshire had suffered from years of under-investment and it was pleasing to see a concerted effort to close the gap with neighbouring authorities, such as County Durham and the Tees Valley.

Resolved -

- a) Thank Janet Probert, Lisa Pope and Adele Coulthard for attending
- b) That the aims and objectives of the proposed re-configuration of Adult and Older Peoples' Mental Health Services in Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby be supported
- c) That a further report on the early findings of the programme of public engagement and proposed next steps for the process of service reconfiguration be brought to this committee at the meeting on 23 June 2017.

143. Sustainability and Transformation Plans – Update

Considered -

The report of the Scrutiny Team Leader, North Yorkshire County Council, providing a summary of discussions at the Scrutiny of Health Mid Cycle Briefing, that took place on 16 December 2016, and an overview of the current state of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) process. A number of areas of concern were highlighted some lines of enquiry suggested.

Daniel Harry provided an overview of the report, highlighting: some of the key messages that had come out of the discussions with the STP lead officers at the Mid Cycle Briefing; the concerns that remained regarding governance arrangements and how realistic and robust the financial plans were; and a number of lines of enquiry that the Committee may wish to continue to pursue.

Cllr Jim Clark noted that the Mid Cycle Briefing had provided an opportunity to have a robust discussion with the STP lead officers and to re-iterate what the concerns were. Also, that local government had yet to be fully involved in the STP process, an omission that ran the risk of undermining any plans that were being developed to keep people out of hospital and in their homes or other community settings

Cllr Jim Clark stated that North Yorkshire County Council was still in discussion with the Secretary of State about having one STP for North Yorkshire. At the same time, early work is underway to try and make sense of the current 3 STP solution and how integrated health and social care services could be delivered on a North Yorkshire basis within that.

Cllr Bernard Bateman raised concerns about the future of Ripon Community Hospital and the 'Healthy Ripon Strategy'. The strategy was supposed to deliver a Community Hub that combined Primary Care, supported accommodation, diagnostic and out-patient facilities, social care, rehabilitation, leisure services and a swimming pool. One of this appeared to be happening.

In response, Cllr Jim Clark noted that it was now over 5 years since the first meeting about the 'Healthy Ripon Strategy' and that all appeared to have gone quiet. He stated that the Committee did not want to see a repeat of what happened to the Lambert Memorial Hospital at Thirsk, where a sudden temporary closure on the grounds of safety led to a permanent closure.

Cllr Wendy Hull suggested that the apparent shortages of capital available to the NHS to implement the changes to services required could, in part, be addressed by a system wide review of capital expenditure.

Cllr David Billing noted that experience showed that change in the NHS was slow and difficult. As such, it seemed unlikely that the proposed deficit reductions would be achieved.

Cllr Ian Galloway highlighted his concerns that Harrogate district risked being overlooked when taken as part of the West Yorkshire STP. The priorities of Harrogate district residents would be overridden by the needs of people in Leeds, Bradford and other large urban areas.

Cllr Jane Mortimer questioned whether having one STP for North Yorkshire would help matters, as the STP footprints need to focus upon the larger acute services.

Cllr John Clark raised concerns that whilst local authorities were being listened to it remained to be seen whether anything changed as a result.

Cllr Jim Clark restated the massive challenge faced posed by the shortage of the capital funding, within the NHS, needed to make fundamental changes to the way in which health services are delivered.

Cllr Patrick Mulligan stated that there were deep concerns about the West Yorkshire STP and what this would mean for the residents of Craven District. Their needs would simply be overlooked, as the needs of people in West Yorkshire were prioritised. Cllr Mulligan also noted the massive financial challenge faced by the West Yorkshire and Harrogate STP.

In summing up, Cllr Jim Clark re-iterated the concerns expressed by the Committee about the risk posed to local health and social care, community-based funding and services in the county. He noted that the STP process was NHS dominated, rushed in its development and unrealistic in its financial assumptions and planning. Cllr Clark stated that whilst the STP process is supported in principle, it ran the risk of being another heavy-handed, top-down reorganisation of health that would not deliver what has been promised.

Cllr Jim Clark stated that, on behalf of the committee, he would continue to work with the Chair of the North Yorkshire Health and Wellbeing Board, the Director of Health and Adult Services and the Chief Executive to ensure that there was a co-ordinated approach to the oversight of and engagement with STPs.

Resolved -

- a) That the lead officers for the three STPs that cover North Yorkshire be invited to the next meeting of the Committee, at 10am on 7 April 2017, to provide an update on progress with the development of the STPs, specifically how the STP process going to be able to:
- Deliver integrated health and social care services in a large rural county, split across 3 STP footprints
- Address the shortages in qualified, skilled and experienced health and social care staff, staff who are urgently needed to enable the transformation of services and to deliver integrated and new forms of care
- Allocate finances within their STP, in particular capital funding, which is seen as essential in transforming service delivery in North Yorkshire. For example, mental health inpatient facilities at York and Harrogate and community hospitals at Whitby and Ripon
- Address concerns nationally and locally about governance, scrutiny and accountability issues, in particular in relation to the new organisations that are being developed for service delivery, such as Accountable Care Organisations.

144. Dying Well and End of Life Care

Considered -

The report of the Scrutiny Team Leader, North Yorkshire County Council, providing a copy of the draft of the final report on the in-depth scrutiny of End of Life Care in North Yorkshire that has been undertaken by this Committee since July 2016. Members were asked to review the draft report and identify any gaps or omissions, inaccuracies, areas for further investigation and to assure themselves that the recommendations are specific, realistic and relevant to the evidence base presented in the report.

Daniel Harry provided an overview of the work that had been undertaken as part of the extended and in-depth scrutiny of end of life care services and interventions in the county. This included a summary of the recommendations that had been drafted to date.

Members were informed that there remained a number of lines of enquiry outstanding that would be pursued in February. Further engagement with key stakeholders would also be undertaken during that month.

Daniel Harry confirmed that the final, agreed version of the report would be submitted to the North Yorkshire Health and Wellbeing Board for consideration at their meeting on 17 March 2017. Daniel Harry asked Members of the Scrutiny of Health Committee to delegate responsibility, for agreeing the final version of the report, to the Mid Cycle Briefing that will be held on 3 March 2017.

There followed a discussion about the scope of the report and some of the findings and recommendations.

Cllr Kevin Hardisty welcomed the report, noting the complex nature of the subject and the amount of material presented.

Cllr David Billing noted the key role that hospices had to play in supporting patients and carers. Also, the essential support that is often offered by undertakers to the bereaved, which can make a big difference to how people cope with their loss.

Cllr Clare Wood welcomed the work that the committee had done to support the 'Dying Well' theme in the North Yorkshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-20, highlighting that the key message was one of supporting people's choices about the manner of their death.

Cllr Jim Clark noted that further work would be undertaken over February to finalise the report, including a peer review and a final edit to ensure that key messages were more accessible.

Resolved -

- a) That the committee thank Daniel Harry for the work that he has done to support this piece of extended scrutiny
- b) That the draft report be circulated to all those people who have contributed to it for review
- c) That the remaining lines of enquiry be pursued, including the following that were identified by the committee: the role of the Yorkshire Ambulance Service; the role that mental health services have to play, particularly Tees Esk and Wear Valleys

- NHS Foundation Trust; and the role of undertakers in providing support to families
- d) That the committee delegates authority to formally sign off the report to the meeting of the Scrutiny of Health Mid Cycle Briefing on 3 March 2017
- e) That the final agreed version of the report be submitted to the North Yorkshire Health and Wellbeing Board for consideration at their meeting on 17 March 2017.

145. CQC Diabetes Review - Overview of Diabetes Prevalence and Responses

Considered -

The report of Clare Beard, Consultant in Public Health, Health and Adult Services, North Yorkshire County Council, providing a summary of the national issues raised in a recent Care Quality Commission review of diabetes care and support and highlighting what this means at a local level in North Yorkshire.

Daniel Harry informed the committee that this report was presented at the request of the Chairman, in response to the national report of the CQC. The aim of the discussions is to better understand what the local issues may be in North Yorkshire and what is being done in response.

Clare Beard gave an overview of the key issues in the report, highlighting that:

- Type 2 diabetes is avoidable
- it has an 'insidious onset', as people are often not aware that they are developing it until they have very obvious symptoms
- it can have a significant impact on people's health and wellbeing and how they live their lives
- it costs health and social care a great deal of money, particularly where there are complications
- people are living for longer with Type 2 diabetes and that it is recognised that managing the disease takes a great deal of effort and determination.

Clare Beard also noted that there had been variations across the county in the take up of the Tier 2 adult weight management service, with the Selby area having the greatest take up.

In response, Cllr Kevin Hardisty noted that more could be done to make people aware of the impact of Type 2 diabetes and that it is a serious and potentially life threatening condition.

A number of Members representing district councils queried the extent to which their council had been involved in the Tier 2 adult weight management service pilot.

Clare Beard agreed to provide further information to the Members representing district councils.

Cllr John Clark raised concerns that the CCG bidding process for National Diabetes Prevention Programme had been done on a STP basis, at a point in time when the STP plans had not been completed and not consulted upon. Further concerns were raised about the differing approaches being taken by the STPs covering North Yorkshire and what this meant about equality of access to services in the county.

There was a discussion about the increase in childhood obesity, the reasons for it and the actions being taken to respond to it and prevent it. Particular attention was paid to the role of schools and the responsibilities of families.

Cllr David Billing highlighted the lack of central government regulation of food advertising.

Cllr John Clark stated that high sugar foods remained cheap and central government had yet to respond to calls for a tax on sugar.

Resolved -

- a) Thank Clare Beard for attending
- b) That the aims and objectives of the work that is underway to promote healthy lifestyles, healthy weight and NHS health checks be supported
- c) That details of the Tier 2 adult weight management service are shared with District Council representatives on the committee
- d) That the leaders of the three STPs that cover North Yorkshire be encouraged to participate in the National Diabetes Prevention Programme, on the same terms.

146. Funding of Community Pharmacies – Update on Discussions at Mid Cycle Briefing on 16 December 2016

Considered -

The report of the Scrutiny Team Leader, North Yorkshire County Council, providing details of discussions that took place at the Scrutiny of Health Mid Cycle Briefing on 16 December 2016 regarding changes to the Government funding of Community Pharmacies. This was in response to a Notice of Motion that was put to County Council on 9 November 2016.

Daniel Harry gave an overview of the report and highlighted the proposal made at the Mid Cycle Briefing on 16 December 2016 to maintain a watching brief and to model the long term potential impact of the funding reductions.

Cllr David Billing stated the importance of better understanding the impacts of the funding reductions, particularly around accessibility to community pharmacy services.

Cllr Kevin Hardisty raised concerns about the future of the screening and other services that are currently offered by community pharmacies, which help take pressure off GPs and A&E departments.

Cllr Wendy Hull noted that the Department of Health had publicised the role of community pharmacies as a first point of contact for people with non-emergency health concerns and that the risk was that funding reductions would undermine this.

Clare Beard was invited to comment and suggested that any proposed work on modelling the potential long term impact of funding reductions on community pharmacy services could be included in the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.

Resolved -

a) A watching brief be maintained on the impact of Government reductions to community pharmacy funding over the next two years, with regular updates to the Scrutiny of Health Committee.

- b) To work with Public Health and other agencies and organisations to consider ways in which the potential impact of the reductions in funding can be better understood, in particular:
 - The impact upon GPs and A&E
 - The impact upon vulnerable people
 - The impact upon people living in the more deprived areas of the county.

147. Work Programme

Considered -

The report of the Scrutiny Team Leader, North Yorkshire County Council, highlighting the role of the Scrutiny of Health Committee and reviewing the work programme, taking into account current areas of involvement and decisions taken in respect of earlier agenda items.

Daniel Harry noted that the provision of and access to dentistry services, particularly on an emergency basis by people not registered with a dentist, was being considered as an area for scrutiny, subject to an initial piece of work by Public Health at North Yorkshire County Council.

Cllr John Clark requested further information on the outcome of the recent CQC inspection of the Yorkshire Ambulance Service.

Resolved -

a) That the Work Programme be noted.

The meeting concluded at 12:35

DH